FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
1/19/2021 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/19/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99439-1

NO. 36694-4-III

COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

GUSTAVO TAPIA RODRIGUEZ,

Defendant/Appellant.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW,

Dennis W. Morgan WSBA #5286 Attorney for Appellant PO Box 1019 Republic, Washington 99166 (509) 775-0777

1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Gustavo Tapia Rodriguez requests the relief designated in Part 2 of this Petition.

2. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez seeks review of an Unpublished Opinion of Division III of the Court of Appeals dated December 17, 2020. (Appendix "A" 1-43)

The Court of Appeals decision runs contrary to established Supreme Court precedent as it pertains to the offense of aggravated first degree murder. RAP 13.4 (b)(1),(3); *State v. Hacheney*, 160 Wn.2d 503, 158 P.3d 1152 (2007).

Additionally, the decision is in derogation of an individual's constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury. RAP 13.4 (b)(3).

3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Did the Court of Appeals ignore the fact that the aggravating factors of kidnapping and drive-by shooting were incidental to the premeditated first degree murder?
- B. Are RCW 10.95.020 (7) and (11) impermissible aggravating factors due to each, or both, of them being predicate felonies merging into the underlying offense?

C. Was Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez denied a fair and impartial trial when certain biased jurors were not challenged for cause?

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A party was being held at the Shady Tree RV Park near the Quincy exit on I-90. Leslie Diaz and Destiny Rivera were present at the party. Ms. Diaz was smoking methamphetamine. The trailer belonged to Fernando Marcos Gutierrez (a.k.a. Zapatos). (RP 821, ll. 13-18; RP 821, l. 22 to RP 822, l. 21; RP 823, ll. 3-19; RP 861, ll. 11-19; RP 862, ll. 10-21; RP 1118, ll. 1-2; RP 1185, ll. 15-18)

Jill Sundberg, Julio Albarran Varona and Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez, along with Zapatos and Ambrosio Mendez Villanueva (a.k.a. Chivo) arrived later. (RP 824, Il. 2-19; RP 825, I. 22 to RP 826, I. 1; RP 1044, Il. 12-25; RP 1116, Il. 20-23)

Ms. Diaz and Ms. Rivera left the party approximately two (2) hours later. (RP 826, 1. 21 to RP 887, 1. 1)

Some time after they left Ms. Sundberg and Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez got into an argument. (RP 1053, Il. 14-16; RP 1192, Il. 2-11)

Julio claimed that Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez told him that Ms. Sundberg was killed because she threatened to bring him down. Additionally, Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez was claimed to have said that she stated to him "How would you like for your daughter to be spreading her legs and have some

bastard fucking her." Julio also testified that Ms. Sundberg supposedly snitched on some higher up in a drug ring who was sent to prison and that was the reason that a cardboard sign had been placed on her back. (RP 1123, ll. 7-22; RP 1073, l. 18 to RP 1074, l. 4)

Julio, Zapatos, Salvador Espinoza Gomez (a.k.a. Chato), Chivo and Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez took Ms. Sundberg in Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez's truck to a public access off of I-90 WB on the Old Vantage Highway. Ms. Sundberg pulled a knife prior to getting into the truck; but Zapatos pointed a gun at her. (RP 1055, Il. 9-10; RP 1056, Il. 5-9; RP 1057, Il. 1-17; RP 1059, Il. 2-19; RP 1060, Il. 2-3; Il. 11-17; RP 1118, Il. 13-15; RP 1194, Il. 17-25)

Upon arriving at the public access area everyone exited the vehicle. Zapatos then tied Ms. Sundberg's hands with an adaptor cord. Everyone except Ms. Sundberg had a gun at the public access area. (RP 1060, Il. 21-25; RP 1061, Il. 2-12; RP 1061, Il. 16-25; RP 1121, I. 22 to RP 1122, I. 8; RP 1207, Il. 15-18)

Ms. Sundberg was forced to kneel in the snow. Julio held her head down. She was shot thirteen (13) times in the head and back. Chato testified that he did not see Ms. Sundberg being shot. He looked away when he saw Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez with the gun. (RP 1062, 1. 12 to RP 1063, 1. 3; RP 1200, ll. 5-15; RP 1254, ll. 22-24)

As they started to leave the public access area Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez was driving. He stopped. Chivo went back with a piece of cardboard which he placed on Ms. Sundberg's back. He secured it by shoving a knife through it. (RP 1063, l. 24 to RP 1064, l. 16; RP 1420, ll. 1-5)

On December 22, 2016 Lynnly Kunz was getting ready to do a trail run with her dog from the public access area. She discovered Ms. Sundberg's body prior to getting on the trail. She called 9-1-1. (RP 874, 1. 18 to RP 875, 1. 13; RP 876, Il. 13-16; RP 902, Il. 21-25; RP 903, Il. 4-7)

On January 23, 2017 a Consolidated Information was filed charging Chivo, Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez and Julio with Ms. Sundberg's murder. An Amended Consolidated Information was filed on August 29, 2017. Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez was charged with premeditated first degree murder and first degree felony-murder in the alternative. Several aggravating factors were included. The aggravating factors raised first degree murder to aggravated first degree murder. The ultimate penalty for aggravated first degree murder is life imprisonment without possibility of parole (LWOP). He was also charged with unlawful possession of a firearm second degree. (CP 1; CP 54)

Juror *voir dire* reflected either actual bias or implied bias by several jurors. The jury panel consisted of Juror Nos. 4, 11, **15**, **28**, 29, **35**, 37, 40, 42, **44**, 45 and 48. The alternates were Juror Nos. 54, 64, 67 and 81.

(CP 1035; RP 459, Il. 1-22; RP 461, I. 7 to RP 462, I. 21; RP 504, Il. 13-25; RP 529, Il. 10-12; Il. 19-23; RP 624, Il. 13-22; RP 626, Il. 17-25; RP 626, Il. 6-22) (Emphasis supplied.)

The jury determined that Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez was guilty of premeditated first degree murder, as well as felony-murder. The jury returned affirmative verdicts on all of the aggravating factors. (CP 1242; CP 1243; CP 1244; CP 1245; CP 1246; CP 1247; CP 1248)

Judgment and Sentence was entered on March 25, 2019. Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez was given a sentence of LWOP with a sixty (60) month firearm enhancement on the aggravated first degree murder conviction. Thirty-six (36) months of community custody was also imposed. Twelve (12) months for unlawful possession of a firearm second degree was run concurrently with the LWOP. Restitution in the amount of \$5,204.59 was imposed. (CP 1264)

Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez filed his Notice of Appeal the same date. An Order of Indigency was also entered. (CP 1284; CP 1286)

The Court of Appeals issued its decision on December 17, 2020 affirming Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez's conviction of aggravated first degree murder.

5. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. ISSUES 1 AND 2

Aggravated first degree murder is defined in RCW 10.95.020 as follows:

A person is guilty of aggravated first degree murder ... if he or she commits first degree murder as defined by RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a), as now or hereafter amended, and one or more of the following aggravating circumstances exists:

...

(7) The murder was committed during the course of or as a result of a shooting where the discharge of the firearm, as defined in RCW 9.41.010, is either from a motor vehicle or from the immediate area of a motor vehicle that was used to transport the shooter or the firearm, or both, to the scene of the discharge; ...

...

(11) The murder was committed in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from one of the following crimes:

. . .

(d) Kidnapping in the first degree

(Emphasis supplied.)

The only aggravating factors listed in RCW 10.95.020 that pertain to an underlying offense are subparagraphs (7) and (11). Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez contends that neither of these subdivisions can be an aggravating factor to support his conviction. The reason(s) underlying his contention is/are twofold.

Initially, the underlying offense that must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt is premeditated first degree murder. Felony-murder does not authorize a sentence for aggravated first degree murder.

RCW 9A.32.030(1) defines first degree murder as follows:

A person is guilty of murder in the first degree when:

- (a) With a premeditated intent to cause the death of another person, he or she caused the death of such person; or
- (b) Under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life, he or she engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to any person, and thereby causes the death of a person; or
- (c) He or she commits or attempts to commit the crime of ... (5) kidnapping in the first or second degree, and in the course of or in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight therefrom, he or she, or another participant, causes the death of a person other than one of the participants

• • • •

(Emphasis supplied.)

Subparagraph (c) is the felony-murder alternative for first degree murder. It should be noted that drive-by shooting is not a basis for felony murder.

As set out in *State v. Powell*, 35 Wn. App. 791, 794, 664 P.2d 1 (1983):

RCW Applying these factors to 9A.32.030(1)(a) and (c) it appears that the Legislature intended to specify alternative means of committing a single offense. The placed both Legislature **RCW** 9A.32.030(1)(a) and (c) under the title "Murder in the First Degree", LAWS OF 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., Ch. 260, § 9A.32.030. It is obvious that the perceivable connection is the causing of the death of a human being. **The** methods of committing first degree murder are not repugnant to each other; proof of an offense under one subsection does not disprove an offense under the other subsection. Finally, the prohibited acts may adhere in the same transaction.

• • •

(Emphasis supplied.)

First degree murder is an alternative means crime. *See: State v. Johnson*, 113 Wn. App. 482, 489, 54 P.3d 155 (2002).

The intent of the legislature, in enacting the felony murder statutes, is "to punish those who commit a homicide in the course of a felony under the applicable murder statute." *Wanrow* [*State v. Wanrow*, 91 Wn.2d 301, 588 P.2d 1320 (1978)] at 308.

State v. Gamble, 154 Wn.2d 457, 468, 114 P.3d 646 (2005).

As noted, Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez was charged with first degree felony murder based upon first degree kidnapping. Felony murder is a crime in and of itself. Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez was found guilty of first degree felony murder.

First degree felony murder is not subject to a sentence of aggravated first degree murder. Yet, the Legislature saw fit to include felony murder as an aggravating factor, even though it limited aggravated first degree murder to premeditated murder.

Query: Does the inclusion of another felony as an aggravating factor under RCW 10.95.020 convert premeditated first degree murder into first degree felony murder?

When considered in this light, RCW 10.95.020(11) is a contradiction in terms and should not be considered an aggravating factor. Sentencing statutes are subject to the rule of lenity and cannot be used to increase a penalty. *See: Seattle v. Winebrenner*, 167 Wn.2d 451, 462, 219 P.3d 686 (2009).

The jury concluded that first degree kidnapping based upon second degree assault met the criteria for the first degree felony murder conviction.

... [T]he rule of lenity dictates that we construe aggravating circumstances narrowly, especially where their

application determines the imposition of our most severe penalties, death or life without possibility of release. See In re Pers. Restraint of Cruz, 157 Wn.2d 83, 88, 134 P.3d 1166 (2006). Aggravated circumstances are used, theoretically, to select from the larger set of first degree murders those deserving our most severe penalties. Dana K. Cole, Expanding Felony-Murder in Ohio: Felony-Murder or Murder-Felony?, 63 Ohio St. A.J. 15, 23 (2002).

State v. Hacheney, supra, 518-19. (Emphasis supplied.)

Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez asserts that it is obvious that first degree felony-murder and premeditated first degree murder are crimes which merge. They merge to avoid a violation of the double-jeopardy provisions of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Const. art. I, § 9.

Courts apply an exception to this merger doctrine on a case-by-case basis; it turns on whether the predicate and charged crimes are sufficiently "intertwined" for merger to apply. *Johnson*, [State v. Johnson, 92 Wn.2d 661, 600 P.2d 1249 (1979)] at 681; State v. Payton, 29 Wn. App. 701, 720, 630 P.2d 1362 (1981).

State v. Saunders, 120 Wn. App. 800, 820-21, 86 P.3d 1194 (2004).

Since drive-by shooting (subparagraph (7)) is not one of the predicate offenses for felony murder it must be construed somewhat

differently when being used as an aggravating factor for aggravated first degree murder.

As recognized in *State v. Hacheney*, *supra*, 520:

The plain language of the aggravated first degree murder statute does *not* provide that the aggravating circumstance applies if the felony occurred in the course of the murder.

(Emphasis supplied.)

The drive-by shooting aggravator fits within the parameters outlined by *Hacheney*. The intent was to murder Ms. Sundberg; not to commit a drive-by shooting.

The jury determined that Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez was guilty of both premeditated first degree murder and felony not only as to the two (2) offenses; but also murder. The double jeopardy provisions of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Const. art I, § 9 control. Merger occurs as to the kidnapping aggravator.

If, as Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez contends, the aggravating factors are inapplicable and in contravention of the Fifth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 9 on double-jeopardy grounds he would only be subject to sentencing on the premeditated first degree murder conviction.

Our Supreme Court has recently been giving considerable attention to convictions of aggravated first degree murder.

Initially, due process required the State give notice to a defendant of any factor it was seeking to establish in connection with a charge of aggravated first degree murder. However, following the decision in *Alleyne v. United States*, 570 U.S. 99, 103, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2013) our Supreme Court decided *State v. Allen*, 192 Wn.2d 526, 534, 431 P.3d 117 (2018) and held:

In light of this guidance and as explained below, we find no logical or legal basis for holding that the elements of a crime for purposes of the Sixth Amendment's right to trial by jury are different from the elements of a crime for purposes of the Fifth Amendment's double jeopardy clause. For both purposes, a fact other than proof of a prior conviction that increases the mandatory minimum sentence is an element of the offense. Accordingly, we hold that RCW aggravating 10.95.020 circumstances, which increase the mandatory minimum penalty for first degree murder, are elements of the offense of aggravated first degree murder for purposes of the double jeopardy clause.

(Emphasis supplied.)

The State, in the Amended Consolidated Information set forth the factors it relied upon for the charge of aggravated first degree murder. Yet, the kidnapping factor, was also an element of the alternative means of first degree felony murder. The first degree felony murder merged with the jury's verdict of premeditated first degree murder.

The next case which the Supreme Court considered is *State v. Mu-hammad*, 194 Wn.2d 577 (2019) In discussing the independent purpose exception to the merger doctrine it ruled at 608:

To establish an independent purpose or effect, there must be a showing that the element crime caused "some injury to the person or property of the victim or others, which is separate and distinct from and not merely incidental to the crime of which it forms an element. *Johnson* [*State v. Johnson*, 92 Wn.2d 671, 680, 600 P.2d 1249 (1979)]; *Harris* [*State v. Harris*, 167 Wn. App. 340, 355, 272 P.3d 299 (2012)]; *State v. Saunders*, 120 Wn. App. 800, 807-08, 821, 86 P.3d 232 (2004) (holding convictions for felony murder and first degree rape did not merge when murder was distinct from and not incidental to the rape.

This issue was again addressed in *State v. Whitaker*, 195 Wn.2d 333, (2020). The Court noted at 340: "Just like first degree felony murder, aggravated first degree murder criminalizes killing in the course of committing another crime."

The Court went on to say at 341-42:

[T]here is a critical difference between a freestanding kidnapping charge and the kidnapping element in an aggravated first degree murder prosecution. In an aggravated murder prosecution, the State is required to prove that the murder was committed in the course of or in furtherance of the felony. RCW 10.95.020 (11). To meet this burden, the State must prove a sufficiently "intimate"

connection" between the killing and the felony. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 608, 940 P.2d 546 (1997) (quoting *State v. Golladay*, 78 Wn.2d 121, 132, 470 P.2d 191 (1970), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Arndt*, 87 Wn.2d 374, 378, 553 P.2d 1328 (1976), and citing *State v. Leech*, 114 Wn.2d 700, 706, 790 P.2d 160 (1990). As a result, the felony aggravating circumstance necessarily involves taking a life.

In Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez's case the kidnapping was an integral element of the felony murder alternative. It was then additionally used as an aggravating factor. It is his position that when both alternatives of first degree murder were found by the jury to exist, that they merged. The separation of the kidnapping aggravator from the merger is what violates the prohibition against double jeopardy.

ISSUE 3

RCW 4.44.170 provides, in part:

Particular causes of challenge are of three kinds:

- (1) For such a bias as when the existence of the facts as ascertained, in judgment of law disqualifies the juror, and which is known in this code as implied bias.
- (2) For the existence of a state of mind on the part of the juror in reference to the action, or to either party, which satisfies the court that the challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party

challenging, and which is known in this code as actual bias.

(3)

Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez's concerns involve Juror Nos. 15, 28, 35 and 44.

Defense counsel did not challenge any of those jurors for cause.

Defense counsel did not exercise a peremptory challenge against any one of those jurors.

Juror 15 had a wife who was sick and a problem with childcare. He clearly stated he did not want to be there. (RP 624, ll. 13-22; RP 626, ll. 7-25)

Juror 28 also did not want to be a juror. He was concerned with his farm work. He stated that he would not be 100% mentally present during the trial. (RP 624, Il. 13-22; RP 627, Il. 6-22)

The trial court recognized that Juror 44 may be disqualified due to implied bias. The trial court gave defense counsel the opportunity to challenge this juror. Defense counsel waived his challenge to Juror 44. Juror 44's wife is an employee of the Grant County Prosecutor's Office. (CP 888; CP 1035; RP 560, Il. 1-9; RP 576, Il. 15-20)

RCW 4.44.180 states, in part:

A challenge for implied bias may be taken for any or all of the following causes, and not otherwise:

- (1) ...
- (2) Standing in the relation of ... being a member of the family of ... or in the employment for wages, of a party
- (3) ...
- (4) ...

It is interesting to note that the trial court *sua sponte* raised this issue.

This will become of greater importance when Juror 35 is discussed.

Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez asserts that it was error for defense counsel to not question Juror 44 in detail concerning the relationship of his wife's duties as it may pertain to his case.

Juror 35 creates a grave concern for Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez. During the State's *voir dire* of Juror 35 the following exchange occurred about "strong feelings one way or the other about gangs."

MR. JENKS: ... Does anyone else have some strong feelings one way or the other? Okay. Thank you.

No. 35?

JUROR 35: Yeah, I don't – I don't like it when they mark up our community and gang up on other people to bully them.

MR. JENKS: Okay. Have you ever been a victim of tagging or graffiti?

JUROR 35: When I worked at the Royal School District, we got tagged bigtime one night and it took us all morning to get it covered up. They did a whole couple of buildings, big, like eight-foot letters. It was pretty bad.

(RP 504, l. 19 to RP 505, l. 7)

Even though it may be trial strategy to not challenge a juror who claims that he/she can be impartial, the problem is that defense counsel made no further inquiry as to jurors 15, 28 and 35. Their impartiality and ability to be fair was in question. *See: State v. Castro*, 141 Wn. App. 485, 493, 170 P.3d 78 (2007).

In particular, a challenge for cause should have been made to Juror 35. There was an obvious racial bias underlying the response to the prosecuting attorney's question. The response is similar to the one in *State v. Witherspoon*, 82 Wn. App. 634, 637-38, 919 P.2d 99 (1996), *review denied*, 130 Wn.2d 1022 (1997) where the prospective juror stated:

"When what you see in the newspaper, I have to admit I'm a little bit prejudiced. I see a lot of black people who are dealing drugs. When drugs are dealt, that's who is involved unfortunately. I can't help it. I'm sorry. I'm that way. I see it in the papers all the time, and I can't help but be influenced."

When defense counsel is appointed to represent a person in an aggravated first degree murder case it is incumbent upon that attorney to make certain that there is a thorough examination of potential jurors during the course of *voir dire*. Failure to do so adversely impacts the client's constitutional rights under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Const. art. I, § 22.

Better safe than sorry is the mantra that the attorney should have during the *voir dire* process. Make the inquiry. Make the challenge.

... [A]n accused holds a constitutional right to unbiased jurors. ... Due process means a jury capable and willing to decide the case solely on the evidence before it, and a trial judge must ever be watchful to prevent prejudicial occurrences and to determine the effect of such occurrences when they happen. Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209, 102 S. Ct. 940, 71 L. Ed.2d 78 (1982). The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment entitles a state criminal defendant to an impartial jury, which includes a jury that determines guilt on the basis of the judge's instructions and the evidence introduced at trial, as distinct from preconceptions or other extraneous sources of decision. Patton v. Yount, 467 U.S.1025, 1037 N.12, 104 S. Ct. 2885, 81 L. Ed.2d 847 (1984).

State v. Winborne, 4 Wn App.2d 147, 160, 420 P.3d 707 (2018).

Relying upon the *Winborne* case, not only were Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez's constitutional rights violated under the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. I, § 22; but also under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Const. art. I, § 3. The latter violations being due process violations.

As indicated earlier, the trial court did act *sua sponte* when it raised the question of implied bias as to Juror 44. However, the trial court did not act *sua sponte* with regard to Juror 35.

The trial court raised the fact that a motion in limine had been granted prohibiting inquiry into gang activity/membership. This should have alerted defense counsel that further inquiry was necessary. (RP 508, 1.7 to RP 509, 1.14)

A concise statement of the trial court's duty in this instance is set out in *State v. Lawler*, 194 Wn. App. 275, 284, 374 P.3d 278 (2016):

CrR 6.4(c)(1) states that the judge "shall" excuse a juror if grounds for a challenge are present. In applying CrR 6.4(c)(1) the Supreme Court stated:

This rule makes clear that a trial judge may excuse a potential juror where grounds for a challenge for cause exists, notwithstanding the fact that neither party to the case exercised such a challenge. In fact, the judge is obligated to do so.

Davis, [State v. Davis, 175 Wn.2d 287, 290 P.3d 43 (2012)] at 316 (emphasis added). However, Davis involved the trial court's sua sponte dismissal of a juror even though neither party challenged the juror, not its failure to dismiss a juror sua sponte. Id. at 311.

(Emphasis supplied.) *See also: State v. Guevara-Diaz*, 11 Wn. App. 2d, 843, 851-55 (2020).

6. CONCLUSION

Aggravated first degree murder based upon underlying felonies con-

stitutes first degree felony murder. There is no such crime as aggravated

premeditated felony murder.

The use of felonies as aggravating factors for a premeditated first

degree murder conviction violates double jeopardy under the doctrine of

merger. Alternatively, both felonies were incidental to and not committed

in the course of or furtherance of the murder based upon Supreme Court

precedent.

The presence of biased jurors deprived Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez of a

fair and impartial trial.

Mr. Tapia-Rodriguez requests that his aggravated first degree mur-

der conviction be reversed and remanded for resentencing. On the other

hand, if the Court determines that juror bias existed, he is entitled to a new

trial.