FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/11/2021 3:39 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 994391

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

RESPONDENT,

v.

GUSTAVO TAPIA RODRIGUEZ,

PETITIONER.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

GARTH DANO PROSECUTING ATTORNEY

Kevin J. McCrae – WSBA #43087 Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

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

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. The kidnapping and drive-by shooting were done to facilitate the murder. That does not make them incidental to the murder or mean they were not intentional.

a. Any potential double jeopardy violation was cured by the Court of Appeals.

Mr. Tapia creates a confusing tableau of double jeopardy issues, confuses intent with objective and misunderstands the relationship between felony murder and aggravated first-degree murder.

Premeditated murder and felony murder based on kidnapping are alternative means of committing murder in the first degree. RCW 9A.32.030. They have different mens rea requirements. Premeditated murder requires a premeditated intent to kill. Felony murder requires an intent for the underlying felony, and that a death result in the course of or furtherance of a felony. Aggravated first-degree murder requires both a premeditated intent to kill and the intent for the other felony. Mr. Tapia was found guilty of aggravated murder. He was also found guilty of the alternative means of premeditated murder and felony murder.

Mr. Tapia is correct that separate convictions for felony murder, premeditated murder and aggravated murder for the same killing would violate double jeopardy principles. Where his argument falls apart is that he seems to conclude this means the greater crimes of aggravated murder and premediated murder should be dismissed, leaving the felony murder as the operative conviction. This is faulty reasoning. The proper remedy for a double jeopardy violation would be to dismiss the lesser crimes and

leave the greater crime of aggravated murder as the operative conviction.

This is exactly what happened. The State charged the alternative means in one count. The jury found all alternative means were committed. Mr.

Tapia was sentenced on one count of aggravated first-degree murder. The only mention of felony murder on the judgment and sentence was in a block that listed the crime of conviction as premediated/felony murder.

The Court of Appeals has instructed the lower court to remove the felony murder reference. This resolves any potential double jeopardy issue.

b. While Mr. Tapia's goal in committing the kidnapping and drive-by shooting was to execute Jill Sundberg, he still had the intent to commit those crimes, and the murder was committed in the course of the kidnapping and drive-by shooting.

Aggravated first-degree murder is a premediated murder committed with an aggravating factor. As is relevant here, the aggravating factors were the murder was committed in the course of a drive-by shooting and/or a kidnapping. RCW 10.95.020(7), (11)(d). Mr. Tapia argues that the kidnapping and drive-by shooting were committed to accomplish the murder, and therefore these aggravators do not apply. But to prove drive-by shooting and kidnapping the State is not required to prove what the objective of the crimes was, only the intent. WPIC 39.02 (requiring intentional abduction and intent to cause bodily injury); WPIC 35.31 (requiring reckless or intentional discharge of a firearm). "A person

acts with intent or intentionally when he or she acts with the objective or purpose to accomplish a result which constitutes a crime." RCW 9A.08.010. Thus the State had to prove that Mr. Tapia had the intent to abduct Ms. Sundberg, that is to restrain her by secreting her in a place where she is not likely to be found or by using or threatening to use deadly force. RCW 9A.40.010. To prove kidnapping the State does not have to establish what the larger goal of the kidnapping was. Likewise, with drive-by shooting the State had to prove that Mr. Tapia had the objective or purpose of discharging the firearm. It did not have to prove what he was trying to shoot to establish drive-by shooting, or whether he was trying to kill or simply scare someone. Of course the State did have to prove that Mr. Tapia intentionally killed Jill Sundberg to establish the crime of murder. But each individual crime has its own intent. The fact that they progressed towards the same larger goal does not mean there was not an intent for drive-by shooting and kidnapping.

In addition, the State Supreme Court has already rejected the incidental crime theory put forward by Mr. Tapia. In *State v. Berg*, 181 Wn.2d 857, 860, 337 P.3d 310, 311 (2014), the court held that the fact that a kidnapping was incidental to a robbery does not mean there is insufficient evidence for the separately charged kidnapping. The same would be true here. Where the evidence supports the intent to kidnap, as

well as the other elements of kidnapping, the argument that the kidnapping is incidental to the murder is irrelevant. The same would hold true for drive-by shooting. The lower courts properly concluded that the aggravated murder conviction was correct.

2. The trial court and appellate court correctly did not interfere with Mr. Tapia's right to control his own defense.

Mr. Tapia challenges jurors number 15 and 28 because they indicated they had a hardship and the Court did not remove them, therefore defense counsel should have. RCW 2.36.100 governs dismissal for hardship. Judges have broad discretion in deciding what is an "undue hardship." State v. Ingels, 4 Wn.2d 676, 683, 104 P.2d 944, 947 (1940). Here Mr. Tapia argues that his attorney should have done more to disqualify these jurors for their hardship. But he does not establish that counsel did not have a reason for leaving them on. Trial counsel was actually in the courtroom talking to the jurors, seeing their expressions and hearing their tones of voice. For Mr. Tapia to establish that counsel was ineffective he would have to establish that no reasonable trial counsel would have not picked these jurors over others. He has not even tried to identify which jurors would have been better. A juror who does not want to be there is just as likely to take it out on the State as he is the defendant, and there is no per se exclusion.

Mr. Tapia asserts that it was error not to question juror 44 about his wife's work with the prosecutor's office. The record does not support this contention. The experienced public defender on this case would have been more than familiar with the prosecutor's office. He would have been well aware that the employee works in a separate division and a separate building from the prosecutors handling Mr. Tapia's case. Juror 44 did not raise his paddle when asked if he knew anything about the case. RP 110-11. Because a record was not fully developed, including what the defense counsel did and did not already know, the record is simply insufficient to evaluate this claim. The presumption of effective assistance means that there is presumably a reason counsel did not need to ask more questions.

In addition, Mr. Tapia has to establish that with reasonable probability the outcome would have been different. He has not identified what juror defense counsel should have picked instead, or how that would have made the trial different. In an ineffective assistance of counsel claim it was his burden to do so.

RCW 4.44.180 does not dictate the removal of this juror. First, the statute is permissive, not mandatory. Second, it does not apply to the spouse of an employee of a party. Being the employee of a party fits the statute. Being the family member of a party fits the statute, but being the family member of an employee of the party is not covered by the statute.

The juror would not have been removable under this statute. "A relationship with the government, without more, does not establish bias." *State v. Cho*, 108 Wn. App. 315, 324, 30 P.3d 496, 501 (2001) (holding that status as a police officer does not create a per se bias). The Court had no reason to overrule defense counsel's judgment and remove this juror.

Mr. Tapia also challenges Juror 35 for not appreciating the fact that the school he was working at was tagged. Mr. Tapia claimed that there was "obvious racial bias underlying the response to the prosecuting attorney's question." He also compared the statement to one where a juror said "I see a lot of black people dealing drugs." To be upset by vandalism does not make someone automatically racist. There is no "obvious racial bias" underlying the response to the question. If there was trial counsel, who was there and could observe the juror, was in the best place to pick up on it. Mr. Tapia does not establish ineffective assistance of counsel.

Nor does Mr. Tapia establish the trial judge should have excused the juror for cause. "Implicit in the Sixth Amendment is the criminal defendant's right to control his defense." *State v. Lynch*, 178 Wn.2d 487, 491, 309 P.3d 482, 485 (2013). For a trial judge to jump in and remove a juror without being asked by the defense attorney inserts the trial judge into defense strategy. The case did not involve tagging. The defense attorney may have liked this juror more than others.

Given the strategic importance of voir dire and the wide room for strategic decisions a defendant can make concerning which jurors to strike or accept, a court must not wade into the jury selection process *sua sponte* dismissing jurors absent an unmistakable demonstration of bias lest it interfere with a defendant's right to control his defense.

State v. Lawler, 194 Wn. App. 275, 284–85, 374 P.3d 278, 282 (2016). The comment simply did not rise to the level of justification needed to remove a juror sua sponte. In *Lawler* the juror bias was much clearer than in this case, yet the Court still held there was no duty to dismiss sua sponte.

3. RAP 13.4(b)

RAP 13.4(b) lists the factors governing discretionary review. Mr. Tapia does not directly address these factors, and the case does not meet the factors for review.

RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) address conflicts with other appellate cases. Mr. Tapia identifies *State v. Hacheney*, 160 Wn.2d 503, 158 P.3d 1152 (2007), as the only conflicting case, but *Hacheney* is easily distinguishable on its facts. In *Hacheney* the evidence was that the victim was killed and then a fire was started, presumably to cover up the killing. In other words, the murder was complete before the arson was commenced; therefore, the killing was not in the course of the arson. Here the opposite is true, the kidnapping and drive-by shooting were

commenced prior to the murder, and were completed simultaneously to it.

Hacheney is simply not on point, and there is no conflict.

RAP 13.4(b)(3) requires a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States. There simply is not one here. Any possibly minor double jeopardy violation was cured by the Court of Appeals' opinion. The statements complained about by the jurors do not implicate the right to a jury trial or a fair trial. There simply is no significant issue here.

RAP 13.4(b)(4) requires an issue of significant public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. There simply is no such issue in this case, nor does Mr. Tapia identify one.

E. CONCLUSION

There is no double jeopardy issue in this case. Mr. Tapia was sentenced once for the murder of Jill Sundberg, and the kidnapping and drive-by shooting were properly added as aggravators. The trial court and Court of Appeals did not error in failing to interfere with Mr. Tapia's right to control his defense. The issues raised by Mr. Tapia regarding the jurors did not amount to bias sufficient to justify, much less mandate, the court's

interference. Mr. Tapia does not meet any of the RAP 13.4(b) factors.

The petition for review should be denied.